#### IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ISSUE

"DOES THE PROTECTION AFFORDED PURCHASE MONEY CREDITORS UNDER THE "debtor'S EQUITY" CONCEPT OF INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER SURVIVE THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA?"

#### ARGUMENT ONE OF LEGISLATIVE LANGUAGE APPEARING IN A PREAMBLE

It appears that after the Supreme Court of Florida issued its decision in International Harvester Credit Corp. v. American National Bank Of Jacksonville, 296 So2d 32(Fla 1974) that the Legislature in 1978 set forth in Senate Bill number 417 that it was unhappy with the Florida Supreme Court. That unhappiness was set forth in the preamble and whereas of that Senate Bill. (App. "F") What the Legislature did was simply add a sentence at the end of Section 679.312(4). That statutory section reads as follows:

"(4) A purchase money security interest in collateral other than inventory has priority over a conflicting security interest in the same collateral if the purchase money security interest is perfected at the time the debtor receives possession of the collateral or within ten days thereafter. Failure to so perfect shall cause the priority of said purchase money security interest to be determined under Subsection 5."

"A preamble to a statute is an introductory or prefactory clause, following the title and preceding the enacting clause, explanitory of the reasons for its enactment and the objects sought to be accomplished. It is not an essential or effective part of an act and can not enlarge or convert powers, or cure inherent defects in the statute" 49 Fla Jur 2d, Statutes, Section

59, Preamble, Page 73. While the Legislature appears to be expressing its disapproval of the <u>International Harvester</u> case in the preamble of Chapter 78-222, F.S. the actual law that it passed does not appear to reverse the "debtor's equity" concept.

This is true since both the Mortgagee in his appeal and ITT in its Answer Briefs never discovered the Legislature's displeasure by reading and interpreting the above statute. Apparently the Mortgagee stumbled across Senate Bill number 417 by accident since he raised it for the first time by means of a MOTION FOR EXTRAORDINARY RELIEF after the First District had issued its second opinion clarifying and upholding the trial court. ITT likewise was surprised and very taken back by the discovery of Senate Bill number 417. Therefore, two competent law firms acting professionally and vigorously on behalf of their clients were not put on notice that the "debtor's equity" concept as expressed in <u>International Harvester</u> was possibly repealed by Section 679.312.

Article 3, Constitution of the State of Florida, Section 6, states that the enacting clause of every law shall read: "be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:" and thereafter shall follow the law. Therefore, the "WHEREAS" and the intent expressed therein is simply dicta unless codified after the enacting clause. While the Legislature may have intended to negate the debtor equity concept in Florida it failed to carry that forward into the law of the state.

There is a general rule of law called the "test of vagueness" which applies in reviewing laws. Chapter 78-222 violates the vagueness principle since reasonable and competent citizens can not refer to that law and with reasonable clarity and certainty ascertain their rights.

#### ARGUMENT TWO REGARDING CONSTITUTIONAL AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPALS

Article 1, Constitution of the State of Florida, Section 9

Due Process, states that no person shall be deprived of life,

liberty or property without due process of law. Inherent in due

process is that a person be given reasonable and adequate notice

of the laws that control aspects of his life and livelihood.

When a law fails to put one on notice of what is required of him

then the law, not the citizen, is at fault and must be declared

unconstitutional.

Chapter 78-222, as it amended Section 679.312 (3), (4), (5) is void as relates to repealing the "debtor's equity" concept as long established in the state of Florida and enumerated in International Harvester.

#### ARGUMENT THREE REGARDING PLACE OF FILING

It is clear in the record from the trial level to the appellate level that the Mortgagee filed in the county of Duval County and has relied upon that county filings to assert priority over ITT. ITT has filed its financing statement with the Secretary of State. This is a fundamental error by the Mortgagee and this court could simply dispose of this case by acknowledging the fact that as regards equipment the proper place of filing is with the Secretary of State as provided and required by Section 679.401(1)(c).

Therefore, there is no conflict of security interest since the Mortgagee filed in the wrong place and there is only one good and sufficient filing and that is ITT's.

## ARGUMENT FOUR FOR REASONABLE CONSTRUCTION OF BUSINESS DOCUMENTS

It is basic law in Florida that a purchase money security interest takes priority over conflicting security interest to the extent of the consideration given. Cheves v. First National Bank, 83 So 870 (Fla 1920). The fundamental fairness of that concept has held throughout our judicial history as shown by the fact that purchase money mortgages are given precedence over prior outstanding final judgments, homestead interest, and mechanic's liens. Cheves v. First National Bank, 83 So 870 (Fla 1920); Porter v. Teate, 17 Fla. 813 (Fla 1880); National Title Insurance Company v. Mercury Builders, Inc., 124 So2d 132 (Fla 3rd DCA 1960). Therefore, the status of "purchase money interest" and the "debtor equity concept" runs throughout the entire legal history of this state and is well known to all attorneys and business people.

With the above statement as a starting point then it is logical to review the security agreement paragraph that is relevant to this law suit. That paragraph reads as follows:

"(B) All buildings, structures, improvements of every nature whatsoever now or hereafter situated on the Land, and businesses operated thereon or therefrom, and the business assets thereof, including without limitation all franchises and licenses, and all fixtures, machinery, equipment and personal property of every nature whatsoever now or hereafter owned by the Mortgagor and located in, on or used or intended to be used in connection with or with the operation of said Land, buildings, structures or other improvements, including all extensions, additions, improvements, betterments, renewals and replacements to any of the foregoing; and all of the right, title and interest of the Mortgagor in any such personal property or fixtures subject to a conditional sales contract, chattel Mortgage or similar lien or claim

# together with the benefit of any deposits or payments now or hereafter made by the Mortgagor or on its behalf." (Bold print added by Petitioner)

The first two thirds of the above paragraph states in general language that the Security Agreement attaches to all the assets of the hotel including "equipment and personal property of every nature whatsoever now or hereafter owned by the Mortgagor...". Obviously that is very inclusive and one would think that nothing would need to be added.

However, the last third of the paragraph must have some legal significance and the court can not assume it is just redundant. The only logical answer, given legal understanding of the debtor equity concept, is that the first two thirds of the paragraph relates to those items which the hotel owned outright and the last third relates to the "debtor equity" that the hotel may have in financed collateral.

It is logical and reasonable to believe that the paragraph was written by an attorney cognizant of the fact that there was a difference between fully owned assets and assets subject to a purchase money security interest. Obviously, the Barnett Bank attorneys who drafted the mortgage and security agreement were well aware of Florida law and their knowledge and intent should be recognized. Therefore, it is apparent that this paragraph should be interpreted consistent with general legal understanding and that the last third of the paragraph was intended simply to put a lien on the debtor's equity in after acquired property subject "... subject to a conditional sales contract, chattel mortgage or similar lien or claim".

# ARGUMENT FIVE SHOWING PRACTICAL BUSINESS USE OF THE SECURITY AGREEMENT AND THE RELEVANT PARAGRAPH

The hotel was constantly buying equipment and other personal property. Much of those items were paid for in full or paid for on open account in a short period of time. However, there is a separate category of items which the business community and this court can take cognizance. These are expensive assets which must be financed. The practical question that arises is whether or not a Mortgagee wishes to be contacted each and every time one of its debtors desires to finance a piece of equipment.

The last third of the relevant paragraph is saying that the Mortgagee does not want to be contacted when people are buying equipment and that the bank acknowledges that it will only have a lien on the debtor's equity. In this manner purchase money security interest need not be concerned with the first mortgage and can sell their goods, take back their security interest, without any concern about the first Mortgagee. Therefore, the paragraph is obviously written with that business practicality in mind.

#### CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR PRECISE RELIEF SOUGHT

The Legislature has failed in its attempt to pass a law that would repeal the "debtor's equity" concept in Florida. Constitutional requirements of due process, notice, and vagueness are all violated and therefore the Legislative Amendment is unconstitutional.

The paragraph in the Security Agreement drafted by the Mortgagee clearly shows an intent to accept the "debtor equity" concept. This case could narrowly be decided by the Supreme Court on the idea that these parties dealt with that in mind and therefore the constitutionality of the statute does not need to be reached.