IN THE SUPREME COURT,	STATE OF FLORIDA FILED
ITT INDUSTRIAL CREDIT COMPANY,	MAR 4 1985
Petitioner,	CUERK, SUPREME COURT
vs.	CASE NO. 66,416 hief Deputy Clerk

EDWARD V. REGAN, COMPTROLLER OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE OF THE COMMON RETIREMENT FUND,

Respondent.

An Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District, of a Question of Great Public Importance

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MATHEWS, OSBORNE, MCNATT GOBELMAN & COBB Robert C. Gobelman, P.A. Jerry J. Waxman, Esquire 1500 American Heritage Life Bldg. Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 354-0624

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER AND ITS "DEBTOR'S EQUITY" CONCEPT HAVE NOT SURVIVED THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA.
 - A. CHAPTER 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS UNAMBIGUOUS IN ITS OVERRULING OF <u>INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER</u> AND THE "DEBTOR'S EQUITY" CONCEPT, AND IT IS THIS COURT'S DUTY TO <u>GIVE EFFECT TO THAT INTENT.</u>

The "debtor's equity" concept of International Harvester does not survive the enactment of Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida. An examination of section 671.201(37), Florida Statutes, and sections 679.312(4) and (5), Florida Statutes, as they appeared prior to International Harvester; an examination of the International Harvester opinion; and an examination of Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, all show that the legislature explicitly and clearly overruled any such "debtor's equity" concept. Specifically, the legislature's re-enactment of the definition security interest in section 671.201 of а reemphasized that it is the seller, not the debtor, who retains only a security interest in purchased goods. Furthermore, the addition of language to sections 679.312(4) and (5) by the legislature makes what was clear before even clearer, that priority among competing security interests is not to be determined by vague notions of unjust enrichment or windfalls

but by the interrelated provisions of the uniform commercial code.

в.	IF	CHA	PTER	78	8-222,	LAWS	OF
	FLO	RIDA	., 1	[S	AMBIGU	ous,	THE
	LEG	ISLA	TIVE	ł	INTE	NT	AS
	EVI	DENC	ED	IN	THE	PREAD	MBLE
	SHO	ULD	BE (GIVE	N EFFE	CT.	

Should this Court find Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, to be ambiguous, then it is bound to apply standard principles of statutory construction in order to determine the purpose and intent of the legislature. Doing this, the Court may look to the law's preamble as best evidence of legislative intent. The preamble is manifest in its statement that the "debtor's equity" concept does not survive the enactment of Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida.

с.	IF	THIS	5 COU	RT IS	UNAB	LE TO	
	DIS	SCERN	T	HE	LEGIS	LATIVE	
	INT	ENT	FROM	CHAP	TER 7	8-222,	
	THEN IT		T SHO	JULD	RECEDE	FROM	
	INT	<u>TERNA</u>	TIONAL	, HAR	VESTER	IN A	
	RE-	EXAM	INATIC	ON OF	THAT	CASE	
	ON	THE	MERIT	<u>'S.</u>			

If this Court is unable to discern the legislative intent, then it should re-examine the case that articulated the "debtor's equity" concept, <u>International Harvester</u>, and recede from that case. Said case violates the legislative purpose of the uniform commercial code, which is to simplify, clarify and modernize the law governing commercial transactions and make it uniform among the various jurisdictions.

- 9 -

II. <u>RESPONSE TO ARGUMENTS IN ITT'S</u> INITIAL BRIEF

A. CHAPTER 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, is not unconstitutionally void nor violative of due process. A11 are presumptively valid and statutes doubts as to the constitutionality of a statute are resolved in favor of validity. ITT has offered no evidence beyond a reasonable doubt as to why this law should be stricken.

> B. THE "PLACE OF FILING" ARGUMENT IS EXTRA-RECORD AND IMPROPERLY RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

ITT'S "place of filing" argument is not properly in the record and furthermore, is being improperly raised for the first time on appeal.

> C. THE FIRST DISTRICT DID NOT ERR BY THREE TIMES HOLDING THAT THE MORTGAGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT DID NOT EXCLUDE A LIEN OR CLAIM SUCH AS THAT HELD BY ITT.

The First District properly reversed the trial court's granting of a summary judgment in favor of ITT because the Mortgage and Security Agreement does not exclude a lien or claim such as that held by ITT. An examination of the express words of the Mortgage and Security Agreement show that it is not the Mortgage but rather the personal property or fixtures that is "subject to" other liens or claims.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER AND ITS</u> <u>"DEBTOR'S EQUITY" CONCEPT HAVE NOT</u> <u>SURVIVED THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER</u> 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA.

The narrow issue as certified by the First District is whether or not <u>International Harvester</u> and the "debtor's equity" concept have been overruled by the legislature pursuant to Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida. In order to fully understand the situation that the First District has provided this Court and to appreciate that the legislature has, in fact, overruled <u>International Harvester</u>, a background history is necessary. Regan, therefore, begs this Court's indulgence in providing the following history:

Relevant parts of the UCC prior to International Harvester

Prior to the 1974 <u>International Harvester</u> opinion, there existed the following relevant sections of the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted in Florida. Section 671.201, Florida Statutes (1972), the general definitions section, provided in subpart (37) that

> (37)"Security interest" means an interest in personal property or fixtures which secures payment or performance of an obligation. The retention or reservation of title by a seller of goods notwithstanding shipment or delivery to the buyer (§672.401) is limited in effect to a reservation of а "security interest" . . .

> > - 11 -

Section 679.312, Florida Statutes (1972), concerned with priorities among conflicting security interests in the same collateral, provided in subparts (4) and (5) that

- A purchase money security interest (4) in collateral other than inventory has priority over a conflicting security interest in the same collateral if the purchase money security interest is perfected at the time the debtor receives possession of the collateral or within ten days thereafter.
- (5) In all cases not governed by other rules stated in this section (including cases of purchase money security interests which do not qualify for the special priorities set forth in subsections (3) and of (4) this section), priority between conflicting security interests in the same collateral shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) In the order of filing if both are perfected by filing, regardless of which security interests attached first under §679.204(1) and whether it attached before or after filing;
 - (b) In the order of perfection unless both are perfected by filing, regardless of which security interest attached first under §679.204(1) and, in the case of filed а security interest, whether it attached before or after filing; and
 - (c) In the order of attachment under §679.204(1) so long as neither is perfected.

International Harvester

International Harvester was decided by this Court in There were two questions certified by the lower court in 1974. that case, only the second of which is of relevance to the The lower court asked whether or not under instant appeal. sections 679.312(4) and (5), a party with a security interest in after-acquired property took priority over a party with a purchase money security interest which was not perfected within ten days after the debtor took possession of the collateral. The lower appellate court, in an opinion reported as American National Bank of Jacksonville v. International Harvester Credit Corporation, 269 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), had itself answered the above question in the affirmative. It noted that courts in other jurisdictions had decided the precise question under review and all had held that the failure to perfect within the required period of time removed any priority the Uniform Commercial Code gave to the subsequent purchase money security interest holder. Accordingly, it held, when the purchase money security interest was not perfected within the ten day period, the priority between the two competing security interests was determined according to the rules set forth in subsection (5) of section 679.312. Under the facts of the specific case before it, the holder of the security interest in after-acquired property had priority over the security interest of the purchase money creditor.

In dissent, Acting Chief Judge Rawls proffered the view that the holding of the majority's panel opinion constituted "legal larceny." He was of the view that the creditor's interest in the debtor's after-acquired property was limited to the "debtor's equity" in same.

The Florida Supreme Court modified the lower appellate opinion when it got its turn at bat. International Harvester Credit Corp. v. American National Bank of Jacksonville, 296 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1974). It said it agreed with the district earlier creditor with position that the the court's after-acquired property clause had priority if the subsequent purchase money security interest was not timely perfected. Ιt then adopted the Rawls dissent and that judge's view that the earlier creditor's security interest "must be limited to the debtor's equity in the after acquired property." 296 So.2d at 34. It did this for the stated reason of "contractual constitutional requirements and equitable principles." 296 So.2d at 34. In the belief that it was acting equitably, so as not to give the after-acquired creditor a "windfall" and to avoid "unjust enrichment," the Court ignored the express wording of sections 679.312(4) and 679.312(5) quoted above and judicially injected the "debtors equity" concept into the Uniform Commercial Code, a multi-chapter statute that had been a creation solely of the legislature up until that point.

The legislature reacts with Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida

The Florida Legislature specifically and explicitly reacted to the <u>International Harvester</u> decision in Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida. The preamble to that Chapter stated in full:

> WHEREAS, in a situation where there are conflicting security interests in the same collateral and a purchase money security interest has not been perfected within 10 days after the debtor took the possession of the collateral, Florida Supreme Court, in International Harvester Credit Corporation v. American National Bank of Jacksonville, (296 32), recognized "the earlier So.2d creditor's priority of security in after-acquired property," but limited such priority to "the debtor's equity in the after-acquired property," and

> WHEREAS, the Uniform Commercial Code, as adopted by the Florida Legislature, and as interpreted in other jurisdictions, contains no such "debtor's equity" concept, and in fact provides for a complete and logical system of priorities, and

> WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Legislature that the concept of "debtor's equity" should not be applicable in the State of Florida, and that the clear language in the Uniform Commercial Code should be adhered to. NOW, THEREFORE,

> Be it Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida.

The Legislature then re-enacted section 671.201(37), Florida Statutes, which had provided in pertinent part that the retention or reservation of title by a seller of goods notwithstanding shipment or delivery to the buyer was limited -15 - to a reservation of a security interest. The legislature also amended subsection (3), relating to conflict between a purchase money security interest and a security interest in inventory collateral, by adding language that if the holder of the purchase money security interest fails to meet the requirement of that subsection, the priority of the competing interests will be determined under subsection (5). And, of importance to this history, the legislature amended subsection (4) by adding a sentence to the effect that should the purchase money security interest not be perfected at the time the debtor receives possession of the collateral or within 10 days thereafter,

> Failure to so perfect shall cause the priority of said purchase money security interest to be determined under subsection (5).

Ά. CHAPTER 78-222, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS UNAMBIGUOUS IN ITS OVERRULING OF INTERNATIONAL "DEBTOR'S HARVESTER THE AND EQUITY" CONCEPT, AND IT IS THIS COURT'S GIVE DUTY TO EFFECT TO THAT INTENT.

The protection afforded purchase money creditors under the "debtor's equity" concept of <u>International Harvester</u> does not survive the enactment of Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida. Chapter 78-222 is patent that the holding of <u>International</u>

- 16 -

<u>Harvester</u> and the "debtor's equity" concept enunciated therein are overruled.²

There can be no argument that it is within the province of the legislature to provide for a uniform commercial code to simplify, clarify and modernize the law governing commercial transactions in Florida. <u>See</u> section 671.102, Florida Statutes (1983). Nor can there be argument that it is within the province of the legislature to provide for the creation of liens against property and for the establishment of priorities among lienors. Therefore, the only issue is whether or not the passage of Chapter 78-222 in fact accomplished what is so strongly stated in its preamble, i.e., that the concept of "debtor's equity" not be applicable in the State of Florida.

Regan is in agreement with the First District below in <u>Regan III</u> where that court states that

we cannot in good conscience reasonably question the meaning and intended effect of the amended statute.

10 F.L.W. at 66. Nor do we believe that this Court can in good conscience reasonably question the meaning and intended effect of the statute as amended.

It is hornbook law that if the intent of the legislature is clear and unmistakeable from the language used,

²The First District stated in <u>Regan III</u>: "We are persuaded that the Florida Supreme Court will agree that <u>International</u> <u>Harvester</u> is no longer viable, and that the amended statute controls"

it is a court's duty to give effect to that intent. Englewood Water District v. Tate, 334 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). The reason, of course, is that the legislature is assumed to know the meaning of words and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute. <u>S.R.G. Corp. v. Dept.</u> <u>of Revenue</u>, 365 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1978). There is thus no room for judicial construction and no necessity for interpretation if the language of a statute is clear and admits of only one meaning. A court, therefore, is without power to construe an unambiguous statute, and certainly may not extend, modify, or limit a statute's express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. <u>American Bankers Life Assurance Co. v. Williams</u>, 212 So.2d 777 (Fla. lst DCA 1968).

When one examines Chapter 78-222, it is readily seen that it is neither uncertain nor unambiguous. The language, rather, is clear and patent. Two points bear emphasis. First, it is significant that the legislature <u>re-enacted</u> subsection 671.201(37), Florida Statutes. That subsection is part of the general definitions overarching all of the various chapters comprising the Uniform Commercial Code. Why the legislature re-enacted that particular section does not beg an answer. The reason, quite simply, is that that section succinctly and explicitly sets forth why there is no such concept as "debtor's equity" anymore in Florida since the adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code. While the Supreme Court in <u>International</u> <u>Harvester</u>, for "equitable" reasons, believed that the debtor only acquired an <u>interest</u> in the property while the seller retained title, the legislature in section 671.201(37) reconfirmed that

> The retention or reservation of title by a seller of goods notwithstanding shipment or delivery to the buyer . . . is limited in effect to a reservation of a security interest.

Thus, the concept as stated in International Harvester that the debtor only receives an equity interest while the seller all else is inconsistent with this legislative retains pronouncement that it is the seller that retains only a security interest. As stated elsewhere in the Code and cited to by the legislature in Chapter 78-222, section 672.401, Florida Statutes, states that the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code apply irrespective of title to goods. Furthermore, section 672.401(1), Florida Statutes (1983).reiterates that "[a]ny retention or reservation by the seller of the title (property) in goods shipped or delivered to the buyer is limited in effect to a reservation of a security interest." (emphasis supplied). Therefore, it is seen that the legislature's re-enactment of section 671.201(37) is a direct rebuff to any statement by the International Harvester court that the debtor receives only an equity interest in property. Pursuant to section 671.201(37), the debtor receives both title as well as possession. Accordingly, there can be no such thing as "debtor's equity" under the Uniform Commercial

Code. By its re-enactment of section 671.201(37), the legislature has effectively said just that.

Second, the legislature not only re-enacted section 671.201(37) but it also added language to sections 679.312(3) The almost identical language in those two and 679.312(4). subsections made it explicit that if the holder of a purchase money security interest failed to abide by the simple rules set forth in those two subsections, then priority of conflicting security interests would be determined by subsection (5). And, subsection. in under that contradistinction the to International Harvester court's fear of "unjust enrichment" and "windfalls," priority is determined by the expedience of order of filing or order of perfection or order of attachment. There is no provision in the legislative scheme of a uniform commercial code [see section 671.102(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1983)] for fear of unjust enrichment or windfalls. Furthermore, as noted by Chief Justice Carlton in a lengthy, scholarly and eminently-correct dissent to International Harvester, the priorities to be given competing security interests in the same property is a legislative determination. Thus, even though the court may feel a different system would be "more equitable," that determination is not for the court to make. 296 So.2d at 39.

It is seen, therefore, that Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida -- in its re-enactment of section 671.201(37) to exclude the "debtor's equity" concept from the Uniform

- 20 -

Commercial Code, and in its amendment of sections 679.312(3) and (4) to provide a clear and concise system to determine priority of competing security interests when the holder of the purchase money security interest fails to perfect that interest within the requisite time period -- has effectively and concisely overruled this Court's prior decision in International Harvester and the "debtor's equity" concept enunciated therein. Accordingly, since this Court (along with Regan and the First District) "cannot in good conscience reasonably question the meaning and intended effect of the amended statute," this Court should answer the certified question in the negative and recede from International Harvester.

```
в.
      IF
          CHAPTER 78-222,
                           LAWS
                                  OF
                IS
                     AMBIGUOUS,
                                 THE
      FLORIDA,
                       INTENT
      LEGISLATIVE
                                  AS
                      THE
                            PREAMBLE
      EVIDENCED
                  IN
      SHOULD BE GIVEN EFFECT.
```

If this Court somehow believes that Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, is ambiguous in its overruling of <u>International Harvester</u> and the "debtor's equity" concept, then it is bound to use standard principles of statutory construction in order to determine the purpose of the legislature. Doing this, this Court will find that the legislative intent is express in its overruling of <u>International Harvester</u> and "debtor's equity."

- 21 -

The primary rule for statutory interpretation is to determine the purpose of the legislature. <u>Tyson v. Lanier</u>, 156 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1963). All rules of construction of statutes are designed to subserve the overall object of ascertaining the legislative will and carrying that intent into effect to the fullest degree. <u>Gracie v. Deming</u>, 213 So.2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968). This intent, furthermore, must be given effect even though it may appear to contradict the strict letter of the statute. <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981).

this Court finds the re-enactment of Ιf section 671.201(37) and the amendment to sections 679.312(3) and (4) to ambiguous vis-a-vis <u>International Harvester</u> and the be "debtor's equity" concept, then it may look beyond the words of the statute to ascertain what was in the legislative mind. One valuable tool a court may look at is the preamble to the law. While it is certainly true that a preamble is only an introductory or prefatory clause, is not an effective part of an act and cannot enlarge or confer powers, a preamble is a rich source, if not the best source, of legislative intent. Sunshine State News Co. v. State, 121 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960). An examination of the preamble of Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, discloses beyond peradventure the mind of the legislature vis-a-vis International Harvester.

As succinct and explicit as it is, the preamble bears but simple quoting and needs no explanation:

- 22 -

WHEREAS, . . . the Florida Supreme Court, in International Harvester Credit Corporation v. American National Bank of Jacksonville, (296 So.2d 32), . . limited . . priority to "the debtor's equity in the after-acquired property," and

WHEREAS, the Uniform Commercial Code, as adopted by the Florida Legislature, and as interpreted in other jurisdictions, contains no such "debtor's equity" concept, . . . , and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Legislature that the concept of "debtor's equity" should not be applicable in the State of Florida, and that the clear language in the Uniform Commercial Code should be adhered to.

Accordingly, if it is somehow believed that sections 671.201(37), 679.312(3) and 679.312(4) are ambiguous in relation to <u>International Harvester</u>, then this Court should follow the express intent of the legislature as set forth in the preamble to Chapter 78-222, Laws of Florida, answer the certified question in the negative, and recede from <u>International Harvester</u>.

> c. IF THIS COURT IS UNABLE TO LEGISLATIVE DISCERN THE INTENT FROM CHAPTER 78-222, SHOULD THEN IT RECEDE FROM INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER IN A RE-EXAMINATION OF THAT CASE ON THE MERITS.

Assuming, arguendo, that the statutes as amended are ambiguous and that the intent of the legislature is somehow not discernable through an examination of policy statements, then



this Court should recede from <u>International Harvester</u> in a re-examination of that case on the merits.

International Harvester has been universally condemned courts.³ all and other The by commentators reason. basically, is that the opinion stands alone against the unanimous opinion of other courts in the country when construing the meaning of sections 679.312(4) and (5) in a situation of competing security interests where the purchase money security interest was not perfected within ten days of the debtor receiving possession of the property. See General Electric Corporation v. Tidwell Industries, 565 P.2d 868 (Ariz. 1977); Ranier National Bank v. Inland Machinery Co., 631 P.2d 389 (Wash. App. 1981); In re Samuels & Co., 526 F.2d 1238 (5th Cir. 1976); Talcott v. Franklin National Bank, 194 N.W.2d 775 (Minn. 1972). While ordinarily argument may legitimately be made that how other states interpret their own statutes may only be interesting but not even persuasive in Florida, the context of this discussion is the uniform commercial code. The Florida Legislature adopted the Model Act basically in toto and

³International Harvester has been called "absolute nonsense" and "rationally inexplicable" by one writer, [see Murray, "Commercial Law," 30 U. of Miami Law Review 63, 99 (1975); Murray, "Commercial Law," 33 U. of Miami Law Review 853, 908 (1979)], "incorrect" by another [see "Purchase Money Security Interest Priority Under §9-312(4) of the U.C.C.: Florida Supreme Court Rewrites the Code," 29 U. of Miami Law Review and likely to cause "confusion 384, 386 (1975)], and uncertainty" by yet another commentator [see "Note," 3 Florida State University Law Review 150, 160 (1975).



clearly enunciated the purposes of chapters 671 through 679 of the state's law:

(a) To simplify, clarify and modernize the law governing commercial transactions;

*

(c) To make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions.

Sections 671.102(2)(a) and (c), Florida Statutes (1983). Thus. how other states view the same statute as Florida's section 679.312 is persuasive on our courts pursuant to the express legislative goal of making the law uniform among a11 jurisdictions. No state has followed Florida in its International Harvester derogation of the Uniform Commercial Code.

This Court should re-examine International Harvester and correct the errors of that opinion. Several are glaring. First, the Court erred in basing its decision on unnamed "equitable principles." Such judicial concept has no place in the legislatively-passed set of interrelated chapters that make up the Uniform Commercial Code. It is the legislature's prerogative to decide how priorities among conflicting security interests are to be determined. Whether the legislature gives priority to the first to file, the first to perfect, or the first to attach -- is uniquely a legislative decision. So long the legislative scheme is rational and offends as no constitutional prohibition, this Court should accede to that

determination by a co-equal branch of government. As noted in the International Harvester dissent,

where there are competing security interests in the same property and the property is insufficient to satisfy both debts, <u>any</u> priority to either creditor is, in a sense, inequitable.

296 So.2d at 40.

Second, the <u>International Harvester</u> court erred by reading into the U.C.C. the alien concept of "debtor's equity." Regan hopes that this has been explained well-enough above and will not burden this Court with reiteration of that argument.

Third, the error of the International Harvester court becomes most manifest if the owner of the purchase money security interest is someone other than the seller of the goods, as provided for in section 679.107(2), Florida Statutes (1983). A third party who advances money to purchase property from the seller has a "security interest" in that property. That third party certainly has no "title" in the property. Yet under the International Harvester reasoning, the third party's interest would be something more [precisely what is unfathomable] than a "mere" security interest but presumably less than "title." By the International Harvester reasoning, this situation is unprovided for. By the express wording of the code, however, the answer is clear and in contradiction to International Harvester. The third party provider, of course,

- 26 -

has a "security interest." No resorting to "debtor's equity" is necessary.

Fourth, and of some significance, the International Harvester holding derogates one of the most important policies underlying the Uniform Commercial Code. The Court's opinion gives the holder of a purchase money security interest no incentive to file a financing statement promptly, since even if the holder of the purchase money security interest neglects the ten day rule, he still has absolute priority over the prior after-acquired interest holder pursuant to International This is so because according to the "debtor's Harvester. equity" concept, the determination of the debtor's equity depends on the purchase money interests' being paid first. Accordingly, the International Harvester rule rewards a person who has failed to provide prior creditors with notice of his security interest [Tidwell, 565 P.2d at 872] and renders meaningless the strict notice and filing requirements of the Code that operate to protect both parties.

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